

# Effects of pesticides on freshwater diatoms

T. Debenest, J. Silvestre, Michel Coste, Eric Pinelli, D.M. Whitacre

## ▶ To cite this version:

T. Debenest, J. Silvestre, Michel Coste, Eric Pinelli, D.M. Whitacre. Effects of pesticides on freshwater diatoms. Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology, vol. 203., Springer, pp.87-103, 2010, 978-1-4419-1351-7. hal-02594397

HAL Id: hal-02594397 https://hal.inrae.fr/hal-02594397

Submitted on 8 Apr 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

## **Effects of Pesticides on Freshwater Diatoms**

Timothée Debenest, Jérôme Silvestre, Michel Coste, and Eric Pinelli

#### **Contents**

1	Introduction	87
2	Effects on Cytology and Cell Ultrastructure	89
	2.1 The Cytoskeleton	89
	2.2 The Nucleus and DNA	89
	2.3 The Siliceous Cell Wall	90
3	Effects on Cell Metabolism	91
	3.1 Photosynthesis	91
	3.2 Synthesis of Protein, Lipids, and Carbohydrates	92
	3.3 Nutrient Absorption	92
4	Effects on Diatom Growth	93
	4.1 Algal Biomass	93
	4.2 Diatom Cell Density	94
5	Effects on Species Composition	94
	5.1 Diatom Species	94
	5.2 Algal Community	96
6	Interferences in the Response of Diatoms to Pesticide Exposure	96
7	Summary	97
D۷	afarancas	08

#### 1 Introduction

Human activities have resulted in release of a large range of toxic contaminants into aquatic ecosystems. The assessment of environmental pesticide residue concentrations in Europe and North America has shown significant contamination of streams and groundwater in both agricultural and urban settings (Gilliom et al. 1999; IFEN

Laboratoire d'Ecologie Fonctionnelle (ECOLAB), Université de Toulouse, INP ENSAT, UPS, CNRS, Avenue de l'Agrobiopole, 31326 Castanet-Tolosan Cedex, France e-mail: pinelli@ensat.fr

E. Pine (⋈)

2006; Devault et al. 2007; Gilliom 2007; Sprague and Nowell 2008). According to data recently available in France and the United States, water quality benchmarks for aquatic life were exceeded in half of the sites studied (IFEN 2006; Gilliom 2007). Gilliom et al. (2007) reported that the pollution of streams was relatively concentrated in time with frequent short pulses of higher pesticide concentrations. Numerous publications have shown that pesticide concentrations exceeded  $10 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ , and even reached values approaching  $700 \,\mu\text{g/L}$  in samples collected after heavy rains or during high river flow (Spalding and Snow 1989; Carder and Hoagland 1998; Schulz 2001; Ferenczi et al. 2002). Such events have elevated concerns about environmental risk.

Enforcement of new legislation in Europe (Water Framework Directive 2000/60) has been undertaken to restore the quality of the most contaminated water resources and to meet "good ecological status" by 2015. The main purpose of these rules was to establish levels of pesticide pollution that may have noxious effects on aquatic ecosystems. The majority of ecotoxicity data are only available for single pesticides, and have not been adapted for use in estimating the collective toxicity of pesticides in stream water. The combined toxicity of such pollution is much more complex, given the large range of toxic molecules (pesticides and their metabolites) that may exist in streams and other water bodies (Gilliom et al. 1999; Gilliom 2007). It has been reported that the toxicity of pesticide mixtures is greater than that of individual pesticides (Lydy et al. 2004; Belden et al. 2007). Therefore, pesticide pollution may constitute a major threat to the health and productivity of aquatic ecosystems. At the base of the trophic food chain, primary producers such as diatoms, which represent a source of food for numerous other organisms, may be seriously affected by pesticide exposure. Moreover, such pollutants may significantly disturb the equilibrium of the trophic food chain (Stevenson and Pan 1999).

When rapid water flow limits the development of other algae, diatoms are often the dominant remaining primary producers (Ghosh and Gaur 1998). Therefore, these microalgae are particularly relevant when the harmful effects of pesticide pollution are investigated in aquatic ecosystems. In addition, herbicides (e.g., isoproturon, diuron, atrazine, and *s*-metolachlor), which are particularly toxic to algae, represent the major pesticide class that contaminate rivers, owing primarily to the large amounts used in agriculture and on urban areas, and sometimes owing to their environmental persistence (Agence de l'eau Adour-Garonne 2006; Gilliom 2007). Numerous studies have been performed to study the effects of pesticides on individual species and on species communities. Indeed, if diatom communities are recognized as useful bioindicators of herbicide-contaminated water, their efficiency to detect such toxic pollutants has yet to be demonstrated (Dorigo et al. 2004).

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a broad bibliographical review of articles that address the effects of pesticides and certain other xenobiotics on diatoms. In this review, we emphasize the following targets of pesticide action: (i) cytology and cell ultrastructure, (ii) cell metabolism, and, finally, (iii) effects on community species composition.

## 2 Effects on Cytology and Cell Ultrastructure

Organelles are strongly interlinked in diatoms. A single alteration can seriously perturb all cellular organelles. The study of different intracellular-component responses to toxic agents may help to understand how diatoms respond when exposed to pesticides. Nevertheless, the literature that deals with intracellular toxic effects in diatoms is quite limited. In this review, we have chosen to focus attention on the effects to major organelles (intracellular cytoskeleton, nucleus, and cell wall) of diatoms that may be linked to pesticide exposure.

## 2.1 The Cytoskeleton

The cytoskeleton (microtubules, actin filaments, and microfilaments) is involved in cell division and manages the internal layout of the cell. Many herbicides have been developed that can or do affect the cytoskeleton. Disturbance of cytoskeleton organization may induce several types of cell injuries, especially during mitosis. Thus, Coss and Pickett-Heaps (1974) have shown that IPC (isopropyl N-phenyl carbamate), a carbamate herbicide, produced mitotic spindle effects in the green alga Oedogonium cardiacum. Similarly, diatoms and green algae, exposed to the cytoskeleton inhibitors colchicine and cytochalasin D, induced a disruption of mitotic spindles (Coombs et al. 1968; Pickett-Heaps and Spurck 1982; Edgar and Pickett-Heaps 1984; Pickett-Heaps et al. 1984; Cohn and Pickett-Heaps 1988; Puiseux-Dao 1989; Sampson and Pickett-Heaps 2001). Colchicine is known to block the binding of tubulins  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , and thus, the synthesis of microtubules (Puiseux-Dao 1989). According to Coss and Pickett-Heaps (1974), colchicine and IPC have similar mechanisms of action. Similarly, the work of Spurck and Pickett-Heaps (1994) demonstrated an abnormal arrangement of chromosomes during metaphase for two diatom species (Surirella robusta, Hantzschia amphioxys) caused by the drug, diazepam; the primary effect observed in these two species was disturbed organization of the mitotic spindle. However, in the case of a moderate exposure to diazepam, these authors reported a restoration of the cytoskeleton integrity.

#### 2.2 The Nucleus and DNA

A few studies have been conducted to determine the toxic effects of chemicals on the diatom cellular nucleus. Cassoti et al. (2005) observed dispersion of DNA in cells of the marine diatom, *Thalassiosira weissflogii*, when these organisms were exposed to the aldehyde, 2-trans,4-trans-decadienal. Debenest et al. (2008) also observed DNA dispersion in diatom cells exposed to the plant growth regulator, maleic hydrazide. Multinuclear cells were reported to occur in the diatom *Navicula pelliculosa*, when these cells were exposed to colchicine (Coombs et al. 1968; Duke and Reimann 1977) or when green algae (*O. cardiacum*) were exposed to IPC

(Coss and Pickett-Heaps 1974). The well-known genotoxic plant growth regulator, maleic hydrazide, induced micronucleus and multinuclear cells in a multispecific diatom culture (Debenest et al. 2008). As previously observed by Cassoti et al. (2005), DNA fragmentation was observed for diatoms exposed to certain genotoxic agents (cadmium, 1-methyl-3-nitro-1-nitrosoguanidine and benzo[a]pyrene) (Aoyama et al. 2003; Desai et al. 2006). Similar genotoxic effects were also reported for diatoms exposed to UV radiation. Cells exposed to genotoxic agents show increases in thymine dimers; such dimers induce chromosome bridges and produce nuclear alterations (Buma et al. 1995, 1996; Holzinger and Lutz 2006). Two interpretations were proposed to explain the subsequent effects of these alterations on DNA. Rijstenbil (2001) suggested that oxidative stress, induced by genotoxic agents, may alter DNA integrity (clastogenic action). This toxic mechanism has been widely demonstrated to occur in microorganisms and higher plants exposed to genotoxic pesticides. As observed for higher plants, multinuclear cells may also be produced when the diatom cytoskeleton is affected by chemicals or UV light; such effects may result in abnormal migration of the chromosomes during cell division (Grant et al. 1992; El Hajjouji et al. 2007). Moreover, in diatoms exposed to microtubule inhibitors (colchicine, IPC), abnormal mitotic spindles were noted, as were multinuclear cells (Coombs et al. 1968; Coss and Pickett-Heaps 1974).

#### 2.3 The Siliceous Cell Wall

The main character of diatoms is their siliceous cell wall (frustule). Many authors have identified abnormal morphology or disturbed ornamentation for some diatom cells, potentially as a result of exposure to xenobiotics (Feldt et al. 1973; Thomas et al. 1980; Adshead-Simonsen et al. 1981; Fisher et al. 1981; Yang and Duthie 1993; McFarland et al. 1997; Dickman 1998; Gomez and Licursi 2003; Cattaneo et al. 2004; Stoermer 2004; Debenest et al. 2008).

Numerous toxic agents have been reported as potential inducers of diatom cell wall (frustule) abnormalities. In situ studies identified abnormal frustules in samples contaminated by heavy metals (Feldt et al. 1973; McFarland et al. 1997; Dickman 1998). Abnormal forms were also observed within diatom communities exposed to cadmium, copper, mercury, and zinc (Thomas et al. 1980; Adshead-Simonsen et al. 1981; Fisher et al. 1981; Rijstenbil et al. 1994; Ruggiu et al. 1998; Gold et al. 2003; Gomez and Licursi 2003; Cattaneo et al. 2004).

Few publications exist, however, that describe xenobiotic induction of abnormal cell walls. Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger (2005) reported abnormal forms of diatoms exposed to high concentrations (up to 312  $\mu$ g/L) of isoproturon, a herbicide widely used in agriculture. The growth regulator, maleic hydrazide, a known genotoxin, has induced abnormal frustules, completely destroying the ornamentation of some (Debenest et al. 2008). Abnormal frustule morphology was also observed in diatoms exposed to microtubule inhibitors such as colchicine (Duke et al. 1977; Edgar and Pickett-Heaps 1984; Van Den Hoek et al. 1995).

Oxidative stress due to radiation or toxic exposure may also be implicated in the induction of frustule abnormalities (Rijstenbil et al. 1994; Rijstenbil 2001).

Environmental factors, such as nutrient deficiencies and pH, may also play a role in the development of abnormal frustules (Dickman 1998). In particular, severe silica deficiencies show evidence of inducing these abnormalities (Thomas et al. 1980; McFarland et al. 1997). Among other mentioned causes for induction of abnormal frustules are the mechanical effects of high cell density in crowded communities (Andresen and Tuchman 1991). According to Stoermer (1998), abnormal frustules may constitute clones of a single cell which suffered a genetic mutation which resulted in cell wall distortion.

The cellular mechanisms involved in the genesis of abnormal forms are still poorly understood. Many authors have suggested that silica deficiency is involved in the synthesis of abnormal frustules (Thomas et al. 1980; McFarland et al. 1997). Such deficiency may also result in different intracellular effects from contact with toxic agents. Many researchers believe that abnormal frustule induction may be linked to a disturbance in silica absorption by cells (Fisher et al. 1981; Rijstenbil et al. 1994; McFarland et al. 1997; Cattaneo et al. 2004). Pollutant-induced membrane alteration may occur and would reduce the absorption of silica. Rijstenbil et al. (1994) offered the hypothesis that copper may potentially produce lipid peroxidation effects on membranes (Rijstenbil et al. 1994).

Another scientific interpretation of silica deficiency would implicate the cytoskeleton (microtubules, actin filaments, and microfilaments), which is known to manage the migration of silica deposition vesicles (SDV) for cell wall synthesis (Pickett-Heaps et al. 1979; Round et al. 1990; Pickett-Heaps 1991; Lee and Li 1992; Van Den Hoek et al. 1995). Operational microtubules are important to the proper synthesis of the frustule (Edgar and Pickett-Heaps 1984). Thus, Debenest et al. (2008) suggested that disturbance of the SDV transporters would lead to poor silica supply and thereby induction of frustule abnormalities. Numerous authors have observed abnormal frustules in diatoms treated with microtubule inhibitors (Coombs et al. 1968; Duke and Reimann 1977; Lee and Li 1992).

#### 3 Effects on Cell Metabolism

The metabolism in diatom cells can be disturbed by toxic chemicals at three different levels: (i) photosynthesis, (ii) fatty and amino acids synthesis, and (iii) nutrients absorption.

## 3.1 Photosynthesis

Numerous herbicides such as the *s*-triazines and substituted ureas (phenylureas and sulphonylureas) are widely used in agriculture, and exert their action by disrupting photosynthesis. The active constituents of these molecules bind with a protein called the D1 protein, block electron transfer, and thus inhibit a redox reaction: the

Hill reaction (Berard and Pelte 1996; Peres et al. 1996; Dorigo and Leboulanger 2001; Leboulanger et al. 2001; Berard et al. 2003b; Dorigo et al. 2004). A large body of research has been published that concerns the impact of such molecules on algae. It has been observed that atrazine, in a concentration range from 1 to 5 μg/L, affected the photosynthesis of phytoplankton (De Noyelles et al. 1982). At higher concentrations (20, 25, and 500 µg/L), a more pronounced inhibition of photosynthesis was reported (De Noyelles et al. 1982; Weiner et al. 2007). Irgarol, another s-triazine that is used as an algaecide in copper-based antifoulant paints for controlling fouling organisms on the hulls of marine vessels, was also confirmed to inhibit algal photosynthetic activity (Dahl and Blanck 1996; Nystrom et al. 2002; Berard et al. 2003b). Subchronic studies with this algacide produced photosynthesis inhibition at low concentrations (0.063–0.25 µg/L) (Dahl and Blanck 1996). Kasai and Hanazato (1995) reported reduced photosynthetic activity in phytoplankton communities exposed to another s-triazine chemical, simetryn, but the induced effects occurred at higher concentrations (0.1 and 1 mg/L) than for Irgarol (Kasai and Hanazato 1995). Effects were also produced when diatoms and green algae were exposed to other photosynthesis inhibitors (diquat, hexazinone, and the sulfonylureas such as chlorsulfuron and metsulfuron) (Peterson et al. 1997; Nystrom et al. 1999). A dose-dependent inhibition of photosynthesis was also reported for periphytic algae exposed to high concentrations (8-1800 mg/L) of glyphosate (Goldsborough and Brown 1988).

## 3.2 Synthesis of Protein, Lipids, and Carbohydrates

Exposure of several species of diatoms to atrazine is known to significantly reduce protein synthesis, including proteins D1 and D2, which play an important role in photosynthesis (Weiner et al. 2007). Nicosulfuron was also reported to inhibit amino acid (valine and isoleucine) synthesis and thereby disrupt protein production in algae (Rimet et al. 1999). Atrazine exposure also induced lipid accumulation in cultured diatoms, this accumulation being also observed in diatoms cultured in nutrient-deficient conditions (Weiner et al. 2007).

Disturbances in carbohydrate synthesis may also occur and may cause loss of mobility in some diatom species (*Hantzschia* sp.) exposed to phenylurea herbicides such as linuron (Pipe and Cullimore 1984). Polysaccharides secreted by these microalgae are known to be involved in their normal mobility (Round et al. 1990; Van Den Hoek et al. 1995; Bertrand 1999). Cohn and McGuire (2000) have thus proposed to use mobility loss as an indicator of toxic exposure.

## 3.3 Nutrient Absorption

Herbicides also affect the absorption of nutrients (NO<sub>3</sub>, NO<sub>2</sub>, and Si) by algae. Krieger et al. (1988) have observed that continuous exposure to high concentrations (134  $\mu$ g/L) of atrazine reduced the absorption of nitrate, nitrite, and

silica by microalgae. It has also been reported that periphytic algae, exposed to atrazine, behaved as do algae cultured under nutrient-deficient conditions (Carder and Hoagland 1998). It appears that atrazine disrupts absorption of nutrients by cells. Nevertheless, temperature played a significant role in this cellular mechanism. Krieger et al. (1988) have noted disturbed absorption of nutrients at 10°C, but not at 25°C, in several periphytons exposed to peak concentrations of four herbicides (alachlor, atrazine, metolachlor, and metribuzin).

An increase of nitrite and nitrate concentrations in the medium was also noted during simetryn exposure of phytoplankton communities. Similar results were reported in other experimental systems when treated with photosynthesis-inhibiting herbicides (e.g., s-triazines) (Goldsborough and Robinson 1986; Herman et al. 1986; Gurney and Robinson 1989). Peres et al. (1996) related nitrite and nitrate concentration increases to inhibition of periphytons; such organisms not being able to consume and maintain these nutrients in the upper layers of sediment (Peres et al. 1996). Goldsborough and Robinson (1986) attributed this increase to dead cell degradation, which would release nutrients to the medium. But, these observations are limited to the community level and are thus difficult to extrapolate to the cellular level.

#### 4 Effects on Diatom Growth

## 4.1 Algal Biomass

Algal biomass is measured by evaluating chlorophyll pigment concentrations, using either classical spectrophotometry or liquid chromatography. The measurement of chlorophyll a is one of the most widely used parameters to assess effects of pesticides on algae growth. Numerous authors have shown that exposing algae, including diatoms, to concentrations of atrazine that ranges from 10 to 1000 µg/L produced a decrease in chlorophyll a concentration (De Noyelles et al. 1982; Kosinski and Merkle 1984; Krieger et al. 1988; Jurgensen and Hoagland 1990; Berard 1996; Guasch et al. 1997, 1998; Tang et al. 1997; Carder and Hoagland 1998). Nevertheless, these results were not consistent with other research studies. Some studies failed to find an impact from exposure to atrazine at a concentration of 25 µg/L on algal biomass. Other studies actually demonstrated an increase in chlorophyll a concentration in algae communities exposed to concentration ranges from 10 to 32 µg/L of either atrazine or to atrazine mixed with nicosulfuron (30 µg/L for each molecule) (Lynch et al. 1985; Tang et al. 1997; Seguin et al. 2001a, b). These results are unexpected; the increase in chlorophyll a content may be related to moderate exposure to herbicides, cells being able to maintain sufficient photosynthetic activity (Seguin et al. 2001a). Other herbicides that target photosynthetic activity, such as simetryn or isoproturon, disrupted the development of algal biomass at high concentrations (100–1000 µg/L for simetryn and 40–312 µg/L for isoproturon) (Kasai and Hanazato 1995; Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger 2005).

At a lower concentration (20  $\mu g/L$ ) of isoproturon Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger (2005) did not report algal biomass inhibition, whereas Peres et al. (1996) observed effects on biomass with the same molecule at a lower concentration (5  $\mu g/L$ ). In this last study, results covered only diatoms, without taking into account other algal classes (cyanophytes and chlorophytes). Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger (2005) observed development of green algae at an intermediate concentration (20  $\mu g/L$ ). These algae could be more tolerant to this herbicide than are diatoms. Therefore, no effects were observed on global biomass, increases in green algal biomass apparently compensating for any inhibition of diatom biomass growth.

## 4.2 Diatom Cell Density

Diatom cell density response patterns, following pesticide exposure, are generally difficult to discern. Many authors have shown that atrazine exposure may decrease cell density in some centric diatom species, and do just the opposite for some pennate diatom species (Tang et al. 1997; Berard and Benninghoff 2001; Berard et al. 2004). For one diatom species (*Cocconeis placentula*) exposed to another *s*-triazine herbicide (simetryn), Goldsborough et al. (1986) observed an increase in cell density, whereas Kasai et al. (1995) reported noxious effects of this herbicide on phytoplankton. Isoproturon, even at low concentrations, had a strong effect on diatom cell density (Peres et al. 1996).

## **5 Effects on Species Composition**

An exposure to a single pesticide, or a mixture of pesticides, may selectively disturb some species more than others and thereby disturb the balance within the community. Toxic agents such as atrazine may reduce the ability of some species to develop, even if the effects are not readily visible, and thus may favor the more tolerant species in an ecosystem (Berard and Pelte 1996).

## 5.1 Diatom Species

Generally, herbicide exposure alters the diversity of diatom communities. A decrease in diversity in such communities was observed from exposures to atrazine (10–90  $\mu g/L$ ) (Hamala and Kollig 1985; Berard and Pelte 1996; Berard et al. 2004) and isoproturon (40–160  $\mu g/L$ ) (Peres et al. 1996; Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger 2005). At a lower concentration (2  $\mu g/L$ ), Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger (2005) reported an increase in diversity, probably from development of tolerance by certain species, and the presence of sensitive species that had not yet disappeared.

In benthic diatom communities, eutrophic species tend to be more tolerant to herbicides than certain others. Survival of species, e.g., *Achnanthes lanceolata frequentissima*, *Achnanthes minutissima*, *Asterionella formosa*, *C. placentula*, *Fragilaria capucina* var. *vaucheriae*, *Gomphonema parvulum*, *Nitzschia palea*, *Navicula lanceolata* and *Synedra acus*, was favored in communities exposed to *s*-triazine herbicides (atrazine and Irgarol), either under controlled (Hamala and Kollig 1985; Goldsborough and Robinson 1986; Berard 1996; Munoz et al. 2001; Berard et al. 2003a) or natural conditions (Guasch et al. 1998; Berard et al. 2003b). *A. lanceolata frequentissima* and *N. palea* were known for their tolerance to atrazine (Kosinski and Merkle 1984; Kasai 1999; Downing et al. 2004). Similar results were reported in communities exposed to isoproturon; eutrophic species such as *Navicula cryptocephala*, *N. Halophila*, *N. minima* and *G. parvulum* being more abundant (Peres et al. 1996; Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger 2005).

Results from numerous studies performed under controlled conditions disclosed that exposure to a herbicide, such as atrazine or isoproturon, promoted the development of smaller organism size in the following species: A. lanceolata frequentissima, A. minutissima, Achnanthidium minutissimum, C. placentula, Navicula minima, and Sellaphora seminulum (Goldsborough and Robinson 1986; Peres et al. 1996; Munoz et al. 2001; Seguin et al. 2001a; Schmitt-Jansen and Altenburger 2005). Several interpretations have been proposed to explain this response. Numerous authors believe that small species are pioneers in colonizing pebbles and all surfaces which permit the development of benthic algae (Korte and Blinn 1983; Sekar et al. 2004). The species' survival potential is based on high growth rate, which allows them to colonize substrates (pebbles, rocks, etc.) and other natural surfaces earlier than certain other species, even under unfavorable conditions such as the presence of toxic pollution (Goldsborough and Robinson 1986; Peres et al. 1996). The colonization pattern of substrates continues to be under discussion in the scientific community (Acs and Kiss 1993). Another explanation could be related to the availability of cell defenses against oxidative stress among the smaller species. Rijstenbil (2001) reported that concentrations of gamma-glutamylcysteinylglycine (GSH), an antioxidant molecule, are 5–10 times higher in smaller than in larger species.

The trophic mode of diatom species also influences their sensitivity to herbicides. Some authors noticed that N-heterotrophic species such as *N. halophila* or *N. minima* were tolerant to photosynthesis inhibitors (simazine, terbutryn, and isoproturon) (Goldsborough and Robinson 1986; Peres et al. 1996). Similarly, Hamala and Kollig (1985) observed that periphytic algae exposed to another well-known photosynthetic inhibitor (atrazine) demonstrated an increase in heterotrophic activity. Some diatom species are able to switch their principal trophic modes (autotrophy) when the environmental conditions are unfavorable to photosynthesis (Hellebust and Lewin 1977). This character would explain their relative tolerance to photosynthesis inhibitors (Hamilton et al. 1988).

## 5.2 Algal Community

A large body of research has been performed that emphasizes the effects of herbicides such as atrazine on the species composition of algal communities. Berard and Benninghoff (2001) showed that exposure to 10 µg/L of atrazine modified algae community structure. The different algae genera did not present the same sensitivity to this herbicide. Several studies, carried out on periphytic communities, highlighted a shift in the algae composition of communities in support of diatoms (Goldsborough and Robinson 1986; Guasch et al. 1997, 1998). Numerous publications have reported that these microalgae are more tolerant to photosystem II inhibitors (s-triazines and phenylurea) (Kosinski and Merkle 1984; Gurney and Robinson 1989; Molander and Blanck 1992; Hoagland et al. 1993; Kasai 1999; Dorigo et al. 2004). Some authors have reported that green algae (chlorophyceae and chrysophyceae) and cyanobacteria are between 4 and 10 times more sensitive than are diatoms to these herbicides (Hoagland et al. 1993; Tang et al. 1997; Guasch et al. 1998; Guasch and Sabater 1998; Navarro et al. 2002; Lockert et al. 2006). Similar observations were made on phytoplankton communities exposed over the long term to metazachlor (Mohr et al. 2008).

The higher tolerance of diatoms may be linked either with the capacity of some species to change trophic mode or with the nature of pigments in diatoms (Plumley and Davis 1980; Hamilton et al. 1988; Peres et al. 1996). Diatoms contain carotenoids and xanthophylls. Several authors reported that these pigments have antioxidant properties, which would enhance the potential tolerance to oxidative stress caused by pesticides (Rijstenbil et al. 1994; Pinto et al. 2003). In this context, herbicide effects on algae community depend on the species composition at the beginning of the exposure period (Herman et al. 1986).

## 6 Interferences in the Response of Diatoms to Pesticide Exposure

Many ecological and environmental parameters may interfere when diatoms come into contact with pesticides. Thus, under natural conditions, the potential ecological disturbances observed in a population are often difficult to relate to pesticide exposure, with certainty, because, the complex biological matrix (biofilm), where benthic diatoms evolve, may protect these algae against pesticide effects (Peres et al. 1996). Similarly, the dynamics of colonization and the evolution of biofilms have an impact on the response of benthic diatom communities to toxic agent exposures such as atrazine (Guasch et al. 1997). This protective layer may be disturbed by invertebrate or fish grazers, which also affect cell structure and promote toxic effects (Munoz et al. 2001). Nevertheless, the real impact of these grazers on diatom response to toxic exposure remains quite difficult to evaluate. Without protective layers, planktonic diatoms have also developed mechanisms to escape from a toxic environment by deep-diving (Rijstenbil 2001).

Environmental parameters (light exposure, nutrient concentrations, etc.) also interfere in the responses of algal communities to pesticides (Guasch et al. 1997; Guasch and Sabater 1998; Berard and Benninghoff 2001; Navarro et al. 2002). Thus, several scientific studies showed that diatoms were more sensitive to atrazine during light exposure (Guasch et al. 1997; Guasch and Sabater 1998). In the context of light, the response of algae depends on the season of study and on the site where samples were taken. Navarro et al. (2002) noted lower tolerance to atrazine for periphytic communities during the summer. The opposite results were obtained in phytoplankton communities exposed to the same herbicide (Berard and Pelte 1996). Nutrient concentrations also affect the sensitivity of algae to herbicides. Lin et al. (2005) reported that deficiencies in nitrogen and phosphorus may increase the sensitivity of algae (Lin et al. 2005). Under field conditions, the spatial and temporal variations of nutrient concentrations must interfere in the response of algae to toxic agents, especially in the case of agricultural watersheds, where high water pollution by nitrates occurs (Berard and Benninghoff 2001; Navarro et al. 2002).

## 7 Summary

The study of pesticide effects on algae, and diatoms in particular, was focused on photosynthesis and biomass growth disturbances. Few studies have been performed to investigate the effects of these toxic agents on intracellular structures of diatom cells. Nuclear alterations and cell wall abnormalities were reported for diatoms exposed to toxic compounds. Nevertheless, the cellular mechanisms implicated in the development of such alterations and abnormalities remain unclear. Sensitivity to pesticides is known to be quite different among different diatom species. Eutrophic and small species are recognized for their tolerance to pesticides exposure. More pronounced cell defenses against oxidative stress may explain this absence of sensitivity in species of smaller physical size. Notwithstanding, on the whole, explaining the rationale behind tolerance variations among species has been quite difficult, thus far. In this context, the understanding of intracellular toxicity in diatoms and the relation between these intracellular effects and the disturbance of species composition in communities represent a key target for further research.

The original community species structure determines the response of a diatom community to toxic agent exposure. Diatom communities that have species capable of switching from autotrophic to heterotrophic modes, when photosynthesis is inhibited (e.g., after pesticide exposure), can continue to grow, even in the presence of high pesticide pollution. How diatoms respond to toxic stress, and the degree to which they respond, also depends on cell and community health, on ecological interactions with other organisms, and on general environmental conditions. The general structural parameters of diatom communities (biomass, global cell density) are less sensitive to pesticide effects than are the specific structural parameters of the unicellular organisms themselves (cell density by species, species composition). For benthic species, biofilm development and grazing on this matrix as a source of food for invertebrates and fishes may also modify the response of diatom communities.

Environmental parameters (light exposure, nutrient concentrations, and hydraulic conditions) affect, and often interfere with, the response of diatoms to pesticides. Therefore, the complexity of aquatic ecosystems and the complexity of pesticide pollution in stream water (many molecules in interaction) do not permit researchers to easily detect the effects of such pollutants on diatoms. Clearly more research will be required to address this problem.

#### References

- Acs E, Kiss KT (1993) Colonization processes of diatoms on artificial substrates in the River Danube near Budapest (Hungary). Hydrobiologia 269: 307–315.
- Adshead-Simonsen PC, Murray GE, Kushner DJ (1981) Morphological changes in the diatom, *Tabellaria flocculosa*, induced by very low concentrations of cadmium. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 26:745–748.
- Agence de l'eau Adour-Garonne (2006) Bilan sur la qualité des eaux du Bassin Adour-Garonne en 2005. Toulouse.
- Andresen NA, Tuchman ML (1991) Anomalous diatom populations in Lakes Michigan and Huron in 1983. J Great Lakes Res 17(1):144–149.
- Aoyama K, Iwahori K, Miyata N (2003) Application of *Euglena gracilis* cells to comet assay: Evaluation of DNA damage and repair. Mutat Res/Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen 538(1–2):155–162.
- Belden JB, Gilliom RJ, Martin JD, Lydy MJ (2007) Relative toxicity and occurrence patterns of pesticide mixtures in streams draining agricultural watersheds dominated by corn and soybean production. Integr Environ Assess Manag 3(1):90–100.
- Berard A (1996) Effect of organic four solvents on natural phytoplankton assemblages: Consequences for ecotoxicological experiments on herbicides. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 57(2):183–190.
- Berard A, Benninghoff C (2001) Pollution-induced community tolerance (PICT) and seasonal variations in the sensitivity of phytoplankton to atrazine in nanocosms. Chemosphere 45(4–5):427–437.
- Berard A, Dorigo U, Humbert J F, Bourrain X, Cauzzi N, Druart JC, Leboulanger C (2003a) Révélation d'une pollution diffuse par la tolérance induite chez les communautés de microalgues. Application de la méthode PICT (Pollution-Induced Community Tolerance) dans une rivière contaminée par des herbicides. 31ème congrès Groupe Français des Pesticides: Transfert des produits phytosanitaires, diagnostic de pollution et solutions correctives, Lyon.
- Berard A, Dorigo U, Mercier I, Becker-van Slooten K, Grandjean D, Leboulanger C (2003b) Comparison of the ecotoxicological impact of the triazines Irgarol 1051 and atrazine on microalgal cultures and natural microalgal communities in Lake Geneva. Chemosphere 53(8):935–944.
- Berard A, Pelte T (1996) Effets de l'atrazine sur l'évolution des peuplements phytoplanctoniques lacustres Etude en enceintes expérimentales *in situ*. Ecologie 27(4):195–201.
- Berard A, Rimet F, Capowiez Y, Leboulanger C (2004) Procedures for determining the pesticide sensitivity of indigenous soil algae: A possible bioindicator of soil contamination? Archiv Environ Contam Toxicol 46(1):24–31.
- Bertrand J (1999) Mouvements des diatomées VI. Les efforts pendant le déplacement apical. Mesures, analyses, relations: Longueur, vitesse, force. Cryptog Algol 20(1):43–57.
- Buma AGJ, Hannen EJ, Roza L, Veldhuis MJW, Gieskes WWC (1995) Monitoring ultraviolet-B-induced DNA damage in individual diatom cells by immunofluorescent thymine dimer detection. J Phycol 31(2):314–321.
- Buma AGJ, Zemmelink HJ, Sjollema K, Gieskes WWC (1996) UVB radiation modifies protein and photosynthetic pigment content, volume and ultrastructure of marine diatoms. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 142:47–54.

- Carder JP, Hoagland KD (1998) Combined effects of alachlor and atrazine on benthic algal communities in artificial streams. Environ Toxicol Chem17(7):1415–1420.
- Casotti R, Mazza S, Brunet C, Vantrepotte V, Ianora A, Miralto A (2005) Growth inhibition and toxicity of the diatom aldehyde 2-trans, 4-trans-decadienal on *Thalassiosira weissflogii* (Bacillariophyceae). J Phycol 41, 7–20.
- Cattaneo A, Couillard Y, Wunsam S, Courcelles M (2004) Diatom taxonomic and morphological changes as indicators of metal pollution and recovery in Lac Dufault (Québec, Canada). J Paleolimnol 32(2):163–175.
- Cohn SA, McGuire JR (2000) Using diatom motility as an indicator of environmental stress: effect of toxic sediment. Diatom Res 15, 19–29.
- Cohn SA, Pickett-Heaps J (1988) The effects of colchicine and dinitrophenol on the in vivo rates of anaphase A and B in the diatom *Surirella*. Eur J Cell Biol 46:523–530.
- Coombs J, Lauritis JA, Darley WM, Volcani BE (1968) Studies on the biochemistry and fine structure of silica shell formation in diatoms. Z. Pflanzenphysiol. Bd. 59:274–284.
- Coss RA, Pickett-Heaps J (1974) The effects of isopropyl *N*-Phenyl Carbamate on the green alga *Oedogonium cardiacul* I. Cell division. J Cell Biol 63:84–98.
- Dahl B, Blanck H (1996) Toxic effects of the antifouling agent Irgarol 1051 on periphyton communities in coastal water microcosms. Mar Pollut Bull 32(4):342–350.
- De Noyelles F, Kettle WD, Sinn DE (1982) The responses of plankton communities in experimental ponds to atrazine, the most heavily used pesticide in the United States. Ecology 63(5):1285–1293.
- Debenest T, Silvestre J, Coste M, Delmas F, Pinelli E (2008) Herbicide effects on freshwater benthic diatoms: Induction of nucleus alterations and silica cell wall abnormalities. Aquat Toxicol 88(1):84–94.
- Desai S, Verlecar X, Nagarajappa N, Goswami U (2006) Genotoxicity of cadmium in marine diatom *Chaetoceros tenuissimus* using the alkaline Comet assay. Ecotoxicology 15(4): 359–363.
- Devault D, Merlina G, Lim P, Probst J-L, Pinelli E (2007) Multi-residues analysis of pre-emergence herbicides in fluvial sediments: Application to the mid-Garonne River. J Environ Monit 9: 1009–1017.
- Dickman MD (1998) Benthic marine diatom deformities associated with contaminated sediments in Hong Kong. Environ Int 24(7):749–759.
- Dorigo U, Bourrain X, Berard A, Leboulanger C (2004) Seasonal changes in the sensitivity of river microalgae to atrazine and isoproturon along a contamination gradient. Sci Total Environ318(1–3):101–114.
- Dorigo U, Leboulanger C (2001) A pulse-amplitude modulated fluorescence-based method for assessing the effects of photosystem II herbicides on freshwater periphyton. J Appl Phycol 13(6):509–515.
- Downing HF, Delorenzo ME, Fulton MH, Scott GI, Madden CJ, Kucklick JR.(2004) Effects of the agricultural pesticides atrazine, chlorothalonil, and endosulfan on South Florida microbial assemblages. Ecotoxicol 13(3):245–260.
- Duke EL, Reimann BEF (1977) The Ultrastructure of the diatom cell. In: The biology of diatoms.D. Werner. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp. 13–45.
- Edgar LA, Pickett-Heaps J (1984) Valve morphogenesis in the pennate diatom *Navicula cuspidata*. J Phycol 20:47–61.
- El Hajjouji H, Pinelli E, Guiresse M, Merlina G, Revel JC, Hafidi M (2007) Assessment of the genotoxicity of olive mill waste water (OMWW) with the *Vicia faba* micronucleus test. Mutat Res/Genetic Toxicol Environ Mutagen 634(1–2):25–31.
- Feldt LE, Stoermer EF, Schelske CL (1973) Occurrence of mophologically abnormal *Synedra* populations in lake superior phytoplankton. 16th Conference Great Lakes Research, International Association Great Lakes Research.

Ferenczi J, Ambrus A, Wauchope RD, Sumner HR (2002) Persistence and runoff losses of 3 herbicides and chlorpyrifos from a corn field in the Lake Balaton watershed of Hungary. J Environ Sci Health B 37(3):211–224.

- Fisher NS, Jones GJ, Nelson DM (1981) Effects of copper and zinc on growth, morphology, and metabolism of Asterionella japonica (Cleve) 1. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 51(1):37–56.
- Ghosh M, Gaur JP (1998) Current velocity and the establishment of stream algal periphyton communities. Aquat Bot 60(1):1–10.
- Gilliom RJ (2007) Pesticides in U.S. streams and groundwater. Environ Sci Technol 41(10): 3407–3413.
- Gilliom RJ, Barbash JE, Kolpin DW, Larson SJ (1999) Testing water quality for pesticide pollution. Environ Sci Technol 33(7):164A–169A.
- Gold C, Feurtet-Mazel A, Coste M, Boudou A (2003) Effects of cadmium stress on periphytic diatom communities in indoor artificial streams. Freshwater Biol 48(2):316–328.
- Goldsborough LG, Brown DJ (1988) Effect of glyphosate (Roundup® formulation) on periphytic algal photosynthesis. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 41(2):253–260.
- Goldsborough LG, Robinson GGC (1986) Changes in periphytic algal community structure as a consequence of short herbicide exposures. Hydrobiologia (139):177–192.
- Gomez N, Licursi M (2003) Abnormal forms in *Pinnularia gibba* (Bacillariophyceae) in a polluted lowland stream from Argentina. Nova Hedwigia 77(3–4):389–398.
- Grant WF, Lee HG, Logan DM, Salamone MF (1992) The use of Tradescantia and *Vicia faba* bioassays for the *in situ* detection of mutagens in an aquatic environment. Mutat Res 270(1): 53–64.
- Guasch H, Ivorra N, Lehmann V, Paulsson M, Real M, Sabater S (1998) Community composition and sensitivity of periphyton to atrazine in flowing waters: The role of environmental factors. J Appl Phycol 10(2):203–213.
- Guasch H, Munoz I, Roses N, Sabater S (1997) Changes in atrazine toxicity throughout succession of stream periphyton communities. J Appl Phycol 9(2):137–146.
- Guasch H, Sabater S (1998) Light history influences the sensitivity to atrazine in periphytic algae. J Phycol 34(2):233–241.
- Gurney SE, Robinson GGC (1989) The influence of two triazine herbicides on the productivity, biomass and community composition of freshwater marsh periphyton. Aquat Bot 36:1–22.
- Hamala JA, Kollig HP (1985) The effects of atrazine on periphyton communities in controlled laboratory ecosystems. Chemosphere 14(9):1391–1408.
- Hamilton PB, Jackson GS, Kaushik NK, Solomon KR, Stephenson GL (1988) The impact of two applications of atrazine on the plankton communities of in situ enclosures. Aquat Toxicol 13:123–140.
- Hellebust JA, Lewin JC (1977) Heterotrophic nutrition in: The biology of diatoms. Werner D (ed) Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, 13, pp. 169–197.
- Herman D, Kaushik NK, Solomon KR (1986) Impact of atrazine on periphyton in freshwater enclosures and some ecological consequences. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 43(10):1917–1925.
- Hoagland KD, Drenner RW, Smith JD, Cross DR (1993) Fresh-Water community responses to mixtures of agricultural pesticides – effects of atrazine and bifenthrin. Environ Toxicol Chem12(4):627–637.
- Holzinger A, Lutz C (2006) Algae and UV irradiation: Effects on ultrastructure and related metabolic functions. Micron 37(3):190–207.
- IFEN (2006) Les pesticides dans les eaux Données 2003–2004. Orléans, IFEN: p. 40.
- Jurgensen TA, Hoagland KD (1990) Effects of short term pulses of atrazine on attached algal communities in a small stream. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 19:617–623.
- Kasai F (1999) Shifts in herbicide tolerance in paddy field periphyton following herbicide application. Chemosphere 38(4):919–931.
- Kasai F, Hanazato T (1995) Effects of the triazine herbicide, simetryn, on freshwater plankton communities in experimental ponds. Environ Pollut 89(2):197–202.

- Korte VL, Blinn DW (1983) Diatom colonization on artificial substrata in pool and riffle zones studied by light and scanning electron microscopy. J Phycol 19(3):332–341.
- Kosinski R, Merkle MG (1984) The effect of four terrestrial herbicides on the productivity of artificial stream algal communities. J Environ Qual 13(75–82).
- Krieger KA, Baker DB, Kramer JW (1988) Effects of herbicides on stream Aufwuchs productivity and nutrient uptake. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 17:299–306.
- Leboulanger C, Rimet F, de Lacotte MH, Berard A (2001) Effects of atrazine and nicosulfuron on freshwater microalgae. Environ Int 26(3):131–135.
- Lee M, Li C-W (1992) The origin of the silica deposition vesicle of diatoms. Bot Bull Acad Sin 33:317–325.
- Lin J-H, Kao W-C, Tsai K-P, Chen C-Y (2005) A novel algal toxicity testing technique for assessing the toxicity of both metallic and organic toxicants. Water Res 39(9):1869–1877.
- Lockert CK, Hoagland KD, Siegfried BD (2006) Comparative sensitivity of freshwater algae to atrazine. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 76(1):73–79.
- Lydy M, Belden J, Wheelock C, Hammock B, Denton D (2004) Challenges in regulating pesticide mixtures. Ecol Soc 9(6).
- Lynch T, Johnson HE, Adams WJ (1985) Impact of atrazine and hexachlorobiphenyl on the structure and function of model stream ecosystems. Environ Toxicol Chem 4:399–413.
- McFarland BH, Hill BH, Willingham WT (1997) Abnormal *Fragilaria* spp. (Bacillariophyceae) in streams impacted by mine drainage. J Freshw Ecol 12(1):141–149.
- Mohr S, Feibicke M, Berghahn R, Schmiediche R, Schmidt R (2008) Response of plankton communities in freshwater pond and stream mesocosms to the herbicide metazachlor. Environ Pollut 152(3):530–542.
- Molander S, Blanck H (1992) Detection of pollution-induced community tolerance (pict) in marine periphyton communities established under diuron exposure. Aquat Toxicol 22(2):129–144.
- Munoz I, Real M, Guasch H, Navarro E, Sabater S (2001) Effects of atrazine on periphyton under grazing pressure. Aquat Toxicol 55(3–4):239–249.
- Navarro E, Guasch H, Sabater S (2002) Use of microbenthic algal communities in ecotoxicological tests for the assessment of water quality: The Ter river case study. J Appl Phycol 14(1): 41–48.
- Nystrom B, Becker-van Slooten K, Berard A, Grandjean D, Druart JC, Leboulanger C (2002). Toxic effects of Irgarol 1051 on phytoplankton and macrophytes in Lake Geneva. Water Res 36(8):2020–2028.
- Nystrom B, Bjornsater B, Blanck H (1999) Effects of sulfonylurea herbicides on non-target aquatic micro-organisms Growth inhibition of micro-algae and short-term inhibition of adenine and thymidine incorporation in periphyton communities. Aquat Toxicol 47(1):9–22.
- Peres F, Florin D, Grollier T, Feurtet-Mazel A, Coste M, Ribeyre F. Ricard M, Boudou A (1996) Effects of the phenylurea herbicide isoproturon on periphytic diatom communities in freshwater indoor microcosms. Environ Pollut 94(2):141–152.
- Peterson HG, Boutin C, Freemark KE, Martin PA (1997) Toxicity of hexazinone and diquat to green algae, diatoms, cyanobacteria and duckweed. Aquat Toxicol 39(2):111–134.
- Pickett-Heaps J (1991) Cell division in diatoms. Int Rev Cytol 128:63–108.
- Pickett-Heaps J, Spurck PT (1982) Studies on kinetochore function in mitosis. II. The effects of colchicine and cytochalasin on mitosis in the diatom *Hantzschia amphioxys*. Eur J Phycol 28:83–91.
- Pickett-Heaps J, Spurck T, Tippit D (1984) Chromosome motion and the spindle matrix. J Cell Biol 99(1):137–143.
- Pickett-Heaps J, Tippit DH, Andreozzi JA (1979) Cell division in the pennate diatom *Pinnularia*. V. Observations on live cells. Biol Cell 35:295–304.
- Pinto E, Sigaud-Kutner TCS, Leitao MAS, Okamoto OK, Morse D, Colepicolo P (2003) Heavy metal-induced oxidative stress in algae. J Phycol 39(6):1008–1018.
- Pipe AE, Cullimore DR (1984) Influence of five phenylurea herbicides on the diatom *Hantzschia* in a sandy loam soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 33:439–443.

Plumley F, Davis DE (1980) The effect of a photosynthesis inhibitor, atrazine, on salt marsh edaphic algae, in culture, microecosystems, and in the field. Estuaries 3:217–223.

- Puiseux-Dao S (1989) "Phytoplankton model" in ecotoxicology. In: Aquatic Ecotoxicology: Fundemental Concepts and Methodologies. Boudou A, Ribeyre F (eds), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, II.
- Rijstenbil JW (2001) Effects of periodic, low UVA radiation on cell characteristics and oxidative stress in the marine planktonic diatom *Ditylum brightwellii*. Eur J Phycol 36(1):1–8.
- Rijstenbil JW, Derksen JWM, Gerringa LJA, Poortvliet TCW, Sandee A, Vandenberg M, Vandrie J, Wijnholds JA (1994) Oxidative stress-induced by copper: defense and damage in the marine planktonic diatom *Ditylum brightwellii*, grown in continuous cultures with high and low zinc levels. Mar Biol 119(4):583–590.
- Rimet F, De Lacotte MH, Leboulanger C, Druart JC, Berard A (1999) Comparaison des effets de l'atrazine et du nicosulfuron sur les communautés phytoplanctoniques du Léman. Atrazine and nicosulfuron effects on phytoplanktonic communities of Lake of Geneva. Arch Des Sci de Génève 52(2):111–122.
- Round FE, Crawford RM, Mann DG (1990) The diatoms. Biology & morphology of the genera. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, p. 747.
- Ruggiu D, Lugli A, Cattaneo A, Panzani P (1998) Paleoecological evidence for diatom response to metal pollution in Lake Orta (N. Italy). J Paleolimnol 20(4):333–345.
- Sampson K, Pickett-Heaps JD (2001) Phallacidin stains the kinetochore region in the mitotic spindle of the green algae *Oedogonium spp*. Protoplasma 217(4):166–176.
- Schmitt-Jansen M, Altenburger R (2005) Toxic effects of isoproturon on periphyton communities a microcosm study. Estuarine Coastal Shelf Sci 62(3):539–545.
- Schulz R (2001) Rainfall-induced sediment and pesticide input from orchards into the Lourens River, Western Cape, South Africa: Importance of a single event. Water Res 35(8): 1869–1876.
- Seguin F, Druart JC, Le Cohu R (2001a) Effects of atrazine and nicosulfuron on periphytic diatom communities in freshwater outdoor lentic mesocosms. Ann De Limnol Int J Limnol 37(1): 3\_8
- Seguin F, Leboulanger C, Rimet F, Druart JC, Berard A (2001b) Effects of atrazine and nicosulfuron on phytoplankton in systems of increasing complexity. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 40(2):198–208.
- Sekar R, Venugopalan VP, Nandakumar K, Nair KVK, Rao VNR (2004) Early stages of biofilm succession in a lentic freshwater environment. Hydrobiologia 512(1–3):97–108.
- Spalding RF, Snow DD (1989) Stream levels of agrichemicals during a spring discharge event. Chemosphere 19(8–9):1129–1140.
- Sprague LA, Nowell LH (2008) Comparison of pesticide concentrations in streams at low flow in six metropolitan areas of the United States. Environ Toxicol Chem 27:288–298.
- Spurck TP, Pickett-Heaps J (1994) The effect of diazepam on mitosis and the microtubule cytoskeleton, I. Observations on the diatoms *Hantzschia amphioxys* and *Surirella robusta*. J Cell Sci 107:2643–2651.
- Stevenson RJ, Pan Y (1999) Assessing environmental conditions in rivers and streams with diatoms. In: The diatoms applications for the environmental and earth sciences. Stoermer EF, Smol JP (eds). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Stoermer EF (1998) Boomerang -shaped *Synedra* in lake superior: An example of a surviving mutant taxon. 4th meeting of the International Society of Diatom research.
- Stoermer EF (2004) Atypical Tabularia In Coastal Lake Erie. North American Diatom Symposium.
- Tang JX, Hoagland KD, Siegfried BD (1997) Differential toxicity of atrazine to selected freshwater algae. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 59(4):631–637.
- Thomas WH, Hollibaugh JT, Seibert DLR (1980) Effects of heavy metals on the morphology of some marine phytoplankton. Phycologia 19(3):202–209.
- Van Den Hoek C, Mann DG, Jahns, HM (1995) Algae An introduction to phycology, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, p. 623.

Weiner JA, DeLorenzo ME, Fulton MH (2007) Atrazine induced species-specific alterations in the subcellular content of microalgal cells. Pest Biochem Physiol 87(1):47–53.

Yang J-R, Duthie HC (1993) Morphology and ultrastructure of teratological forms of the diatoms *Stephanodiscus niagarae* and *S. parvus* (Bacillariophyceae) from Hamilton Harbour (Lake Ontario, Canada). Hydrobiologia 269–270(1): 57–66.



http://www.springer.com/978-1-4419-1351-7

Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology Vol 203

(Ed.)D.M. Whitacre 2010, XIII, 155 p. 4 illus., Hardcover

ISBN: 978-1-4419-1351-7